IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO: 2010-CA-01626

BRIAN KEITH WEBB

APPELLANT

VS.

PATRICIA ALICE WEBB

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF MONROE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

LAW OFFICE OF JASON D. HERRING, PA Jason D. Herring, MSB#: Henderson M. Jones, MSB# Attorneys for Appellant Brian Webb 342 North Broadway Street Post Office Box 842 Tupelo, MS 38802-0842 Telephone: (662) 842-1617

Facsimile: (662) 844-4999

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION, WAS MANIFESTLY WRONG, OR APPLIED AN INCORRECT LEGAL STANDARD WHEN IT FAILED TO PROPERLY CONSIDER CERTAIN PERTINENT FACTORS PURSUANT TO ALBRIGHT.
 - A. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO PROPERLY CONSIDER THE MORAL FITNESS OF THE PARENTS.
 - B. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO PROPERLY CONSIDER THE EMPLOYMENT RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE PARENTS.
 - C. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO PROPERLY CONSIDER THE PHYSICAL AND MENTAL HEALTH OF THE PARENTS.
 - D. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO PROPERLY CONSIDER THE PARENTING SKILLS OF THE PARENTS.
 - E. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO PROPERLY CONSIDER THE HOME, SCHOOL, AND COMMUNITY RECORD OF THE CHILD.
 - F. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO PROPERLY CONSIDER THE STABILITY OF THE HOME AND THE EMPLOYMENT OF THE PARENTS.
 - G. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO PROPERLY CONSIDER THE OTHER RELEVANT FACTORS.
- II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED CLEAR ERROR OR ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY NOT ALTERNATIVELY AWARDING JOINT CUSTODY OF SARAH WEBB TO BRIAN AND PATRICIA WEBB.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Patricia Alice Webb filed a Complaint in this case on May 21, 2007, seeking a divorce from her husband, Brian Keith Webb, custody and support of their minor child, Sarah James Temple Webb, and other relief. R. 5-12¹. On June 1, 2007, a Temporary Agreed Order was entered in which the parties agreed to joint custody of Sarah and an arrangement whereby the parties would have physical custody of Sarah on alternating weeks. R. 15-17. An Answer to the Complaint was filed by Brian on June 8, 2007, wherein Brian denied that it was in the best interests of Sarah for Patricia to be granted sole physical and legal custody be granted to Patricia. R. 18-23.

On February 8, 2008, Brian and Patricia agreed to a divorce on the ground of irreconcilable differences and agreed on all issues with the exception that the issue of custody and support of the minor child, Sarah Webb, was left for the court to decide. R. 33-34. On June 26, 2006, an order was filed appointing Stephen T. Bailey, Esq. as guardian ad litem for Sarah. R. 44. A Motion for Emergency Relief was filed on January 28, 2009, in which Brian claimed that he had noticed some bruising on Sarah and that he believed it was caused by Sarah's older half-brother that resided with Patricia. R. 45-48. Pursuant to that Motion, an Agreed Order of Emergency Relief was filed on February 19, 2009, in which the parties agreed that Patricia was required to supervise Sarah when she was in the presence of her older half-brother and that Patricia should prevent the children from "rough housing or having any inappropriate or potentially harmful physical contact." R. 49-50.

On April 12, 2010, the guardian ad litem, Mr. Stephen T. Bailey, Esq., filed his Final Report and Recommendation to the court, and he also filed a Supplemental Report on May 24, 2010. R. 53-58, 65-68. The court filed its Judgment on September 22, 2010, awarding sole

¹ The citation "R" shall refer to the pages of the Trial Court Record.

physical and legal custody of Sarah to her mother, Patricia. R. 69-73. A Notice of Appeal was properly and timely filed by Brian on October 4, 2010. R. 74-75.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Brian Webb and Patricia Webb were married in Monroe County, Mississippi, on November 8, 2001, R. 7, and Patricia subsequently gave birth to their daughter, Sarah James Temple Webb on November 30, 2001. R. 8, T. 29.^{2 3} Sarah and Patricia lived in Brian's home along with Patricia's son, Trenton, and daughter, Delaney⁴, from a previous marriage. T. 21, 84, 259, 302. Patricia also has an older son, Travis, who she allows to live with his father in California, T. 66, 82, 302, and she allowed Trenton to move to California to live with his father at some point during the course of litigation. T. 419. By Patricia's account, the marriage was somewhat tumultuous, as there was a great deal of arguing between her and Brian. T. 102. While the couple was married, several disputes arose between Brian and Patricia, and, as a result of those disputes, there were a number of occasions in which Patricia would leave the marital home, leaving Sarah solely in Brian's care for an extended period of time. T. 30, 229-35, 299-303. The couple finally separated on May 2, 2007, T. 29, 229-34, 299-303, and a Complaint for divorce was filed on May 21, 2007. R. 5-12. Soon thereafter, Brian's father passed away, and his mother, Jean Webb, moved into Brian's home. T. 106, 225, 311.

During the course of the marriage, Brian became disabled and was no longer able to conduct his business as a painting contractor. T. 308, 310. He was diagnosed with high blood pressure and high cholesterol, and he was forced to undergo a number of surgeries on his back, neck, and elbow. T. 308-09. Since that time, however, Brian's health has improved greatly. T. 138-43, 308. He lost a substantial amount of weight, and he currently has no health problems that would prevent him from being a father to Sarah. *Id.* He receives Social Security Disability

² The citation "T" shall refer to the pages of the Trial Court Transcript.

³ It should be noted that pages 534-639 of the Trial Transcript are merely a reproduction of Patricia Webb's testimony in her case-in-chief that can be found on pages 17-122 of the Trial Transcript.

⁴ At the time that the decision was issued by the trial court on May 20, 2010, the children's ages were as follows: Trenton, 16 years old; Delaney, 12 years old; Sarah, 8 years old.

benefits, but he is in the process of starting businesses that he can operate from home so that he can stop receiving disability payments. T. 308-11.

Patricia has been unable to maintain stable employment over the past several years. She had three separate terms of employment with United Furniture before being laid off. T. 18-19, 261. She also worked at the Grill at River Birch for a month before being laid off again, and she was working at Med Point in Amory, Mississippi, at some point during the course of trial. T. 78-79, 260-62, 464.

Brian continues to reside in the marital home, which is in the Hatley school district, whereas Patricia has resided in numerous places in the past ten years, including her current residence in the Amory school district. T. 262, 346, 428-30, 446. Brian has a great deal of extended family in the immediate area, but Patricia has no relatives living in the state of Mississippi. T. 194, 213, 225, 311, 444-45.

As discussed below, the trial court erred in its consideration of a number of the *Albright* factors in this case; therefore, the appellant, Brian, requests that this Court reverse the trial court's decision and grant him sole physical and legal custody, or, in the alternative, joint physical and legal custody of his daughter, Sarah.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The scope of review of a Chancellor's custody determination is limited to whether the Chancellor abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong or applied an incorrect legal standard. *Ivy v. Ivy*, 863 So.2d 1010, 1012 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). A Chancellor's findings of fact will not be disturbed where they are supported by substantial evidence. *Cooper v. Crabb*, 587 So.2d 236, 239 (Miss. 1991). The Mississippi Court of Appeals has held:

The resolution of disputed questions of fact is a matter entrusted to the sound discretion of the chancellor. On appeal, we are limited to searching for an abuse of that discretion; otherwise, our duty is to affirm the chancellor. Our job is not to reweigh the evidence to see if, confronted with the same conflicting evidence, we might decide the case differently. Rather, if we determine that there is substantial evidence in the record to support the findings of the chancellor, we ought properly to affirm.

The chancellor, by his presence in the courtroom, is best equipped to listen to the witnesses, observe their demeanor, and determine the credibility of the witnesses and what weight ought to be ascribed to the evidence given by those witnesses. It is necessarily the case that, when conflicting testimony on the same issue is presented, the chancellor sitting as trier of fact must determine which version he finds more credible.

Carter v. Carter, 735 So.2d 1109, 1114 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999). That is, the appellate court "does not reevaluate the evidence, retest the credibility of witnesses, nor otherwise act as a second fact-finder." *Bower v. Bower*, 758 So.2d 405, 412 (Miss. 2000). Rather, the Court has stated "[i]f there is substantial evidence in the record to support the chancellor's findings of fact, no matter what contrary evidence there may also be, we will uphold the chancellor". *Bower*, 758 So.2d at 412.

In this case, the trial court abused its discretion, committed manifest error, or applied an improper legal standard in its application of a number of the *Albright* factors. Accordingly, the Court should reverse the trial court's decision and award sole physical and legal custody of Sarah Webb to her father, Mr. Brian Webb.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court committed manifest error, abused its discretion, or applied an incorrect legal standard in its consideration of a number of the *Albright* factors in this case. In its consideration of the moral fitness of the parents, the trial court erred by applying too much weight to alleged drug use and past drinking alcohol and smoking cigarettes by Brian and applying too little weight to Patricia's admitted drug use and abortions. The trial court also erred in its consideration of the employment responsibilities of the parents by finding in favor of Patricia when Brian is disabled and capable of being a full-time parent to Sarah while also providing for her financially. The record reflects and the trial court concluded that the evidence was equal between the parties with respect to their physical and mental health; therefore, the trial court committed manifest error when it reached the illogical conclusion that the health factor was in favor of Patricia. The trial court committed manifest error or abused its discretion by concluding that the parenting skills factor was in favor of Patricia when the record shows that Brian has the superior parenting skills and that he has been Sarah's primary caretaker, while Patricia engaged in a number of behaviors that are not indicative of proper parenting skills.

In considering the home, school, and community record of Sarah, the trial court committed manifest error or abused its discretion by applying too little weight to the fact that Brian remains in the marital home and has family nearby and too little weight to the fact that a ruling in favor of Patricia would require Sarah to change schools. The trial court properly concluded that the stability of the home favored Brian when considering the stability of the home and employment responsibilities factor; however, it committed manifest error or abused its discretion when it concluded that this factor was equal because the employment responsibilities favored Patricia. Finally, the trial court committed manifest error, abused its discretion, or applied an incorrect legal standard by applying too little weight to the role that Sarah's

grandmother, Jean Webb, plays in her life and applying so much weight to the separation of Sarah from her half-sister that it became the determinative factor rather than Sarah's best interest. The aggregate effect of the trial court's improper considerations is that it returned a decision that was not in Sarah's best interest. The evidence clearly indicates that it is in Sarah's best interest that sole physical and legal custody be awarded to her father, Brian, and he requests that this Court reverse the decision of the trial court and award him sole physical and legal custody of his daughter, Sarah.

The trial court erred in light of the evidence presented at trial by not alternatively awarding joint physical and legal custody of Sarah to Brian and Patricia. The record indicates that Brian is a fit father and that proximity is not an issue as both parents reside in Monroe County, Mississippi. The parties have the ability to cooperate in Sarah's best interest; therefore, the trial court committed manifest error or abused its discretion by not alternatively awarding joint custody to Brian and Patricia. Brian requests that this Court reverse the trial court's decision and alternatively award joint physical and legal custody of Sarah to Brian and Patricia.

ARGUMENT

In a case of child custody, the "polestar consideration ... is the best interest and welfare of the child." *Albright v. Albright*, 437 So. 2d 1003, 1005 (Miss. 1983). In determining what is in the best interest and welfare of the child, Mississippi courts are guided by the factors set out in *Albright*. These factors include: (1) age, health, and sex of the child; (2) which parent had continuity of care; (3) which parent has better parenting skills and the willingness and capacity to provide primary child care; (4) the employment responsibilities of the parents; (5) the physical and mental health and age of the parents; (6) the moral fitness of the parents; (7) the emotional ties of the parents and child; (8) the home, school, and community records of the child; (9) the preference of a child at the age sufficient to express a preference by law; (10) the stability of the home environment and employment of each parent; and (11) the other relevant factors in the parent-child relationship. *Albright*, 437 So. 2d at 1005. The appellant, Mr. Brian Webb, contends that the trial court improperly considered a number of these factors in awarding sole physical and legal custody to the appellee, Mrs. Patricia Webb, and he would set forth the following issues to the Court in support of his argument.

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION, WAS MANIFESTLY WRONG, OR APPLIED AN INCORRECT LEGAL STANDARD WHEN IT FAILED TO PROPERLY CONSIDER CERTAIN PERTINENT FACTORS PURSUANT TO ALBRIGHT.
- A. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO PROPERLY CONSIDER THE MORAL FITNESS OF THE PARENTS.

The trial court committed manifest error or abused its discretion when it found this factor to be in favor of Patricia. In the court's analysis, it seemed to rely heavily on alleged smoking, alcohol consumption, and drug use by Brian, T. 522; however, Brian respectfully asserts that the court's ruling on this factor is improper, and the following reasoning will establish it as such.

Brian first argues that, contrary to any allegation by Patricia, he has never used any type of illegal drug. T. 305. He also argues that, although he used to drink and smoke, he has not done so in years, and he has never done so in the presence of Sarah. T. 328, 380, 383. If the Court wishes to consider this evidence, however, it should be noted that Patricia is no less culpable with respect to drinking and the illegal use of drugs. Patricia testified at trial that she drank in the past, and that she has also used crystal methamphetamine, possibly while she was pregnant with Sarah. T. 71-73, 77, 117. She testified that she attempted to smoke marijuana. T. 109-117. Further, Brian testified that Patricia had taken some of his prescription pain medication when they were married. T. 305. Brian certainly does not concede that he engaged in the types of behavior alleged by the appellee; however, if the Court wishes to consider these allegations, it should likewise consider the behavior of Patricia and determine her to be equally at fault, at a minimum, in this regard.

Brian would also contend that the court failed to properly consider and weigh Patricia's abortions. Patricia testified at trial that she had two abortions. T. 74. The trial court acknowledged this testimony, but it also reasoned, "[t]here was an explanation given as to that." T. 522-23. The appellant respectfully contends that the trial court erred in this reasoning, however, as the only explanation given by Patricia was that "[she] was 17," and that "[i]t was a case of rape." T. 117. The trial court may have deemed that such conduct was excusable under the circumstances of this singular abortion; however, there was no explanation given as to the circumstances of the other abortion. By seemingly failing to acknowledge the second abortion or at least require an explanation for the action that is morally reprehensible, the trial court failed to properly consider or weigh the evidence presented under this factor.

Brian would ask that the Court reverse the decision of the trial court and find this factor to be in his favor.

B. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO PROPERLY CONSIDER THE EMPLOYMENT RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE PARENTS.

In the application of this factor, there are two competing interests which one must logically address. The first is the amount of time that a parent is able to spend with the child. There are a number of Mississippi cases supporting the position that this factor should favor the parent whose work schedule allows him to spend more time with the child. *See Owens v. Owens*, 950 So. 2d 202, 210 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (favoring disabled father over employed mother); *Hammers v. Hammers*, 890 So. 2d 944, 952 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (favoring unemployed mother over self-employed father); *Ivy v. Ivy*, 863 So. 2d 1010, 1014 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (factor favored mother over father who worked long hours). The competing concern, however, is that the parent be financially capable of caring for the child. See *Mayfield v. Mayfield*, 956 So. 2d 337, 343-44 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (citing *J.P.M. v. T.D.M.*, 932 So. 2d 760, 775 (Miss. 2006) for the proposition that it is not error to favor a parent who has been steadily employed over one whose employment has been more sporadic). It is only natural for one to be concerned about these competing interests, and a court must balance them in order to determine what is in the best interest of the child.

The case that best addresses this issue and is most factually analogous to the current case is *Owens v. Owens*, 950 So. 2d 202, 210 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). In *Owens*, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's ruling that the employment responsibilities factor favored an employed mother over an unemployed father, stating:

This factor appears to be applied in two ways: either to prefer a parent who draws an income over one who does not, or, more often, to prefer a parent who works less or not at all and can therefore spend more time with his children. In the cases we have found where an unemployed parent was preferred, the reason cited is the time that the parent can spend with the child. In cases where an employed parent is found more suitable under this factor, the reasoning is that the unemployed parent has no source of income or appears to be unable to hold a steady job. Under either reasoning, this factor clearly favors James. He is disabled and does not work, and can therefore spend more time caring for Jordan. Although he is unemployed, he still draws an income from Social Security disability payments. Furthermore, James is not unemployed because he cannot hold a stable job, but because he is disabled and unable to work. Martha has presented no additional argument to explain why this factor should favor her rather than James. The chancellor erred in finding that this factor favors neither parent, as it clearly favors James.

Owens, 950 So. 2d at 210. In the present case, as in Owens, the trial court erred under either approach.

It was noted by the trial court in its ruling that Brian is disabled and that he draws Social Security disability payment as a source of income. T. 520. This naturally raises the issue of his physical ability to care for a child; however, that issue is more properly discussed under the mental and physical health factor, and it will be shown there that he is fully capable of caring for Sarah. Although his inability to work is certainly unfortunate to Brian, it allows him to spend a great deal of time with Sarah. He is able to be with her during the summers and when she gets home from school. T. 166-68, 214. He is able to take Sarah to her doctor appointments, and he cooks healthy meals for her. T. 143-45, 218, 243-45, 239-43, 248, 255-57, 333-34. Brian and Sarah are able to visit friends and family, and they go to places such as parks, museums and the mall during the summer or Sarah's other time off from school. T. 214, 334-37, 356-57. Brian has the ability to be a full-time parent, whereas Patricia does not.

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