CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

BRIAN KEITH WEBB Defendant-Appellant

v.

NO. 2010-CA-01626

PATRICIA ALICE WEBB Plaintiff-Appellee

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the judges of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

i

- 1. Honorable Talmadge Littlejohn, Chancellor First Judicial District, Monroe County
- Jason Herring Henderson Jones Attorneys for the Defendant-Appellant
- 3. Luanne Thompson Attorney for the Plaintiff-Appellee
- 4. Stephen Bailey Attorney *Guardian ad Litem*
- 5. Brian Keith Webb, Appellant

Summary of the Argument
Argument
Conclusion
Certificate of Service
Certificate of Filing

,

TABLE OF CITATIONS

ι

.

<u>Albright v. Albright, 437 So.2d 1003, 1005 (Miss.1983)</u>
<i>Bower v. Bower</i> , 758 So.2d 405, 412 (Miss.2000)12
<u>Chamblee v. Chamblee, 637 So.2d 850, 860 (Miss.1994)4, 7</u>
<u>Mosley v. Mosley</u> , 784 So.2 <u>d</u> 901, 905-06 (Miss.2001)2, 6
<u>Norman y. Norman, 962 So.2d 718, 721 (Miss.Ct.App.2007)</u>
<u>Owens v. Owens, 950 So.2d 202 (Miss.Ct.App. 2006)</u>
Rainey v. Rainey, 205 So.2d 514, 515 (Miss.1967)
Robison v. Lanford, 841 So.2d 1119, 1126 (Miss.2003)
Sanderson v. Sanderson, 824 So.2d 623, 625-26 (Miss.2002)2
Spain v. Holland, 483 So.2d 318, 320 (Miss.1986)11
<u>Sumrall v Sumrall, 970 So.2d 254, 259 (Miss.Ct.App. 2007)</u> 10
<u>White v. White, 26 So.3rd 342, 352 (Miss.2010)</u>

Statutes

Mississippi Code Annotated section 93-5-23	

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Judge Littlejohn issued a bench ruling on May 20, 2010, during which he carefully analyzed the *Albright* factors and, upon conclusion, awarded custody of the minor child of the parties to Patricia. In the written Judgment, the Judge incorporated his oral bench opinion as well as the reports of the *Guardian ad Litem*.

Brian argues Judge Littlejohn erred in his application of facts to the *Albright* factors and, alternatively, that Judge Littlejohn erred when he did not award joint custody. Judge Littlejohn's analysis was thorough and, additionally, supported by the recommendation of the *Guardian ad Litem*.

ARGUMENT

I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION, WAS MANIFESTLY WRONG, OR APPLIED AN INCORRECT LEGAL STANDARD WHEN IT FAILED TO PROPERLY CONSIDER CERTAIN PERTINENT FACTORS PURSUANT TO ALBRIGHT

"A chancellor's findings of fact will not be disturbed unless manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous. This Court will not disturb the findings of a chancellor when supported by substantial evidence unless the chancellor abused his or her discretion, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied." *Sanderson v. Sanderson*, 824 So.2d 623, 625-26 (Miss.2002). Furthermore, we "will affirm the [child-custody] decree if the record shows any ground upon which the decision may be justified. . . . We will not arbitrarily substitute our judgment for that of the chancellor who is in the best position to evaluate all factors relating to the best interest[] of the child." *Mosley v. Mosley*, 784 So.2d 901, 905-06 (Miss.2001) [citations omitted.]

In the case at bar, a *Guardian ad Litem*, the Honorable Stephen Bailey, was appointed during the trial when abusive conduct on the part of Brian was testified to by Patricia. Pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated section 93-5-23 (Supp.2008), in child custody cases where allegations of abuse are at issue, a guardian ad litem shall be appointed. *See also Robison v. Lanford*, 841 So.2d

1119, 1126 (Miss.2003). Judge Littlejohn accepted and adopted the recommendation of the *Guardian ad Litem* who recommended that Patricia be awarded physical custody of the minor child.

The *Guardian ad Litem* issued a Final Report and Recommendation which was filed on April 12, 2010, R. p. 27, and a Supplemental Report which was filed on May 24, 2010, R. p. 33. Judge Littlejohn issued an oral bench opinion on May 20, 2010 during which he discussed at length the testimony of the trial and his thorough application of the facts to the *Albright* factors. In his written Judgment, R. p. 37, Judge Littlejohn incorporated the Final Report and Recommendation and the Supplemental Report of the *Guardian ad Litem* as well as the oral bench opinion into the judgment. Between both the fully investigated recommendation of the *Guardian ad Litem* and the thorough analysis conducted by Judge Littlejohn, the facts of the case were absolutely, completely, and fairly applied to the *Albright* factors¹ resulting in an award of custody to Patricia of the minor child.

The *Albright* factors, used to determine what is in the best interest of the child in regard to custody, are: (1) age, health, and sex of the child; (2) a determination of the parent who had the continuity of care prior to the separation; (3) which parent has the best parenting skills and which parent has the willingness and capacity to provide primary child care; (4) the employment of the parent and responsibilities of that employment; (5) the physical and mental health and age of the parents; (6) the emotional ties of parent and child; (7) the moral fitness of the parents; (8) the home, school, and community record of the child; (9) the preference of the child at the age sufficient to express a preference by law; (10) the stability of home environment and employment of each parent; and (11) other factors relevant to the parent-child relationship. *Albright v. Albright*, 437 So.2d 1003, 1005 (Miss.1983).

No error exists in the application of facts to factors.

A. Moral Fitness Factor

Judge Littlejohn thoroughly reviewed the moral fitness factor during the delivery of his oral opinion when he found the moral fitness factor to be in Patricia's favor. He specifically mentioned the illegal use of methamphetamine by Brian Webb. Additionally, Judge Littlejohn mentioned that Brian Webb testified he does not smoke, drink alcohol, or use drugs even though Patricia testified that Brian drinks Jim Beam, Jack Daniels, and that she has seen him use drugs. Obviously, the Judge did not find Brian's testimony credible. It is for the Chancellor to determine the credibility and weight of evidence. *Chamblee v.* Chamblee, 637 So.2d 850, 860 (Miss.1994). At the end of his analysis of the moral fitness factor, the Judge referenced the findings and report of the Guardian ad Litem, filed April 12, 2010, wherein the GAL stated that Patricia attends and is active in church, that the child enjoys church activities with her mother, and that Brian no longer attends church. The GAL further stated:

I believe that Patricia has overcome any past moral failings and now lives a Christian lifestyle. Given the mother's regular attendance at church and the fact that the father does not attend church regularly with Sarah, this factor favors Patricia.

R. p. 29.

B. Employment Responsibilities Factor C. Physical and Mental Health of the Parents Factor

Due to both factors being significantly influenced by the poor health of Brian, undersigned combines the discussion on the factors for the sake of brevity.

Judge Littlejohn found the employment factor to favor Patricia due to the fact that Brian is disabled. Judge Littlejohn correctly found this factor favored Patricia due to the fact that she is employed.

Judge Littlejohn found the physical and mental health of parents factor to favor Patricia as well due to the health problems of Brian. Judge Littlejohn correctly found this factor to favor Patricia. Patricia is not disabled and has no significant health problems.

Brian has significant health problems contributing to his disability, not the least of which are major surgeries on his neck and back. Judge Littlejohn additionally discussed Patricia's claim that Brian is bipolar taken with the fact that Brian had taken lithium in the past. Brian's reliance on *Owens v. Owens*, 950 So.2d 202 (Miss.Ct.App. 2006) is misplaced. Analysis under *Albright* is a factually specific determination based upon the unique facts of each particular case. It cannot be said that in all cases the disabled parent should be favored under the employment responsibilities factor-the determination, instead, must be made based upon the unique individual facts brought to light in each case. The

Owens case is silent as to the nature and extent of disability of the father.

In the case at bar, Brian's disability is a concern due to the extent of his disability as determined by both Judge Littlejohn and the *Guardian ad Litem*. Indeed, when making his recommendation that Patricia be granted physical custody of the child, the *Guardian ad Litem* specifically mentions Brian's remaining poor health as part of the basis for his recommendation. R. p. 31.

Furthermore, it is uncontroverted that Brian's mother moved into Brian's home after the case commenced. As the *Guardian ad Litem* stated when he discussed the physical and mental health factor :

Brian continues to suffer from health problems and remains disabled and unable to work outside of the home. Brian's history of serious health problems remains an area of concern in this matter. Brian's mother continues to reside with him and helps him with standard household chores. This factor continues to strongly favor Patricia.

R. p. 29. When the *Guardian ad Litem* found the employment stability factorfavored Patricia, he did so by finding that Brian is unlikely to ever be able toreturn to work and by finding that Patricia has maintained gainful employment. R.p. 30.

As stated above, the Court is not to arbitrarily substitute its judgment for that of the chancellor who is in the best position to evaluate all of the factors. *Mosley v. Mosley*, 784 So.2d 905-06. Judge Littlejohn evaluated the facts and

the factors and determined that the employment responsibilities factor and the physical and mental health factor favor Patricia.

D. Parenting Skills of Parents Factor

In finding the parenting skills factor favored Patricia, Judge Littlejohn specifically addressed the fact that Brian withheld the child from Patricia on Mother's Day. While Brian may offer self-serving testimony to support his contention that he offered the child to her mother, it was the Chancellor's decision to chose whose testimony was the most credible. *Chamblee v. Chamblee*, 637 So.2d 850, 860.

In his oral ruling, Judge Littlejohn additionally mentioned the fact that Brian allowed a goat to enter the house to eat papers which the Judge found not to be proper. The Judge appeared to be mostly concerned with the displays of temper on the part of Brian and specifically referenced a hole in the wall. In doing so, the Judge stated that he did not believe Brian's testimony that he had caused the hole by falling into the wall. Instead, Judge Littlejohn stated that he had seen the photograph and it is was his belief that Brian knocked a hole in the wall.

On appeal, this Court cannot reweigh the evidence and must defer to the chancellor's findings of the facts, so long as they are supported by substantial evidence. *White v. White*, 26 So.3rd 342, 352 (Miss.2010). Judge Littlejohn

correctly found that the parenting skills factor favored Patricia.

E. Home, School, and Community Record of Child Factor

Judge Littlejohn found the home, school, and community record factor to be equal as to the parties. Brian complains that he should be favored with this factor due to the fact that he kept the marital home and due to his mother living with him. As discussed above, his mother lives with him because he is handicapped and requires her assistance.

Brian additionally points out the frequent moves by Patty; however, the *Guardian ad Litem* found that the moves by Patty were in an effort to find nicer homes for her family. R. p. 30. The issue of a change in schools from Hatley to Amory was additionally addressed by the *Guardian ad Litem* when he discussed a change of school with the child's teacher in Hatley who stated that the child has done extremely well in the Hatley school and that Amory is also a good school. It should be further noted that Patricia continued to maintain the child's active participation in church which Brian has not. R. p. 29.

A Chancellor's findings of facts are entitled to deference. *Rainey v. Rainey*, 205 So.2d 514, 515 (Miss.1967). The Judge did not err by finding this factor was equal to the parties.

F. Stability of the Home and the Employment of the Parents Factor

In finding the stability of home and employment of the parents factor equal to the parties, Judge Littlejohn raised his concern over the fact that Brian kept more than ten dogs at his house. The Court has held that "we may not substitute our judgment for the chancellor's[,] but must determine if the chancellor's ruling is supported by substantial evidence." *Norman v. Norman*, 962 So.2d 718, 721 (Miss.Ct.App.2007). There was no error in the Judge finding this factor was equal for both parties.

G. Other Relevant Factors

At the outset, it is noted that Brian states in his brief without any cite in the record that there is no close relationship between Sarah and her half-sister, Delaney. However, the *Guardian ad Litem* found quite differently. He stated in his Final Report and Recommendation:

Sarah's half-brothers are no longer residing in her mother's home, because they have gone to reside with their father out-of-state. However, Sarah's half-sister continues to reside in the home with her mother. Sarah has indicated to me during all of my interviews with her how much she misses her brothers who now live out-of-state. Further, she has indicated to me that she often misses her sister very badly when she is with her father for a week at a time under the terms of the temporary order. If custody was granted to Brian, the potential separation of Sarah from her half-sister who continues to reside in her mother's home, would not be in Sarah's best interest. The separation of Sarah from her half-sister could be very traumatic to her given the fact that she has already been separated from her half-brothers who

have moved out-of-state.

R. p. 30-31. The finding of the *Guardian ad Litem* is contrary to the statement by Brian.

The Judge correctly found the separation of siblings to be very significant in this case as well he should have. In the case of *Sumrall v Sumrall*, 970 So.2d 254, 259 (Miss.Ct.App. 2007), the Court upheld the Chancellor's award of custody to the mother where the child had a half-brother in the home with the mother. The Court found that separation of the half-brothers would be harmful, difficult, and not in their best interest. *Id*.

Brian additionally makes an argument that Patricia was not focused on the relationship between Sarah and Delaney at trial, but, instead, focused on the relationship between Sarah and Trenton, Sarah's half-brother. Sadly enough, the reason the relationship between Sarah and Trenton was testified to at length in the trial was because Brian continually made issues during the trial about Trenton, beginning with Brian's Motion for Emergency Relief filed on January 28, 2009, with claims that Trenton played too rough with Sarah causing bruises. R. p. 21. Brian's continued proclamations of unfounded bruises on Sarah even resulted in a Supplemental Report of the *Guardian ad Litem* filed on May 24, 2010 in which the *Guardian ad Litem* found the allegations of abuse to be unsubstantiated and

made purely to gain an advantage in the proceeding. R. p. 33.

Finally, Brian urges this Court to view the relationship between grandmother and granddaughter in the same manner as half-siblings. To do so would create unnecessary litigation in future custody cases and cause an already difficult job for our Chancellors to become even more complicated with regard to the weighing of *Albright* factors. The grandmother in the case at bar (referred to as "dictorial" by Judge Littlejohn in his bench opinion) chose to live with her disabled son because he is handicapped and cannot perform standard household chores as found and previously discussed by the *Guardian ad Litem*. R. p. 29. While it is generous of her to help her son and certainly beneficial that she is present to assist her handicapped son when his daughter visits, this should not be determinative of whether the disabled son is awarded custody.

Judge Littlejohn chose to find under other relevant factors that the relationship between Sarah and her half-siblings was an important factor that favored Patricia. "Findings of fact made by a chancellor simply may not be set aside or disturbed on appeal unless manifestly wrong." *Spain v. Holland*, 483 So.2d 318, 320 (Miss.1986). There was no error in this finding.

II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED CLEAR ERROR OR ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY NOT ALTERNATIVELY AWARDING JOINT PHYSICAL AND LEGAL CUSTODY OF SARAH WEBB TO BRIAN AND PATRICIA WEBB

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